1965

# Flinco, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Comp Any, A Foreign Corporation : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed an action against defendant claiming a breach of a franchise agreement by wrongful termination thereof and the violation of the Anti-Monopoly Statute of the State of Utah. The plaintiff is seeking damage for violation of its rights as a result of said two basic kinds of conduct.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Judge Ray Van Cott, Jr. granted the defendant's Motion for Dismissal of plaintiff's action at the close of plaintiff's case in chief on the grounds that plaintiff had shown no right to relief and refused to submit plaintiff's case to the jury for its consideration.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks an order reversing the trial court and requiring submission of its case to the jury for determination.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 21, 1962, plaintiff accepted a "Goodyear Franchise Agreement" which is set up on a Goodyear Tire Company printed form, a copy of said agreement is attached to plaintiff's Complaint and is Exhibit No. 1.

Under the "Goodyear Franchise Agreement", plaintiff was designated as a dealer in tires, batteries, and accessories for the Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company.

Plaintiff terminated a line of tires that it was handling, the Hood brand, and expended considerable amounts of its money to set up as a Goodyear Tire dealer. It operated under such franchise agreement until the summer of 1963, at which time defendant began to circulate rumors in the Salt Lake and Ogden territories that plain-

tiff had been cancelled as a Goodyear Tire dealer. On September 16, 1963, defendant notified plaintiff in writing that under the terms of the Goodyear contract, plaintiff was terminated as a dealer.

Plaintiff claims that the termination by the defendant, in addition to being wrongful in the sense that the termination occurred without notice and prior to the notice of said September 16, 1963, was without cause. Plaintiff claims that the termination was a part of an overall plan and design by Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company to restrict competition in rubber products, batteries, and accessories in the State of Utah and particularly in the area in which Flinco, Inc. operated. The termination is in violation of Title 50, Sec. 1, etc. U.C.A., 1953. Plaintiff claims the termination was because it had taken on an additional brand of tires for distribution through its area, namely the Miller line.

Plaintiff's evidence shows that the Goodyear Franchise Agreement contains several contradictory and inconsistent provisions; first, paragraph 6 provides that the Goodyear Tire Company may cancel the agreement for failure on the part of the dealer to make payments when due Goodyear. In paragraph 13 of the agreement, it provides that the agreement shall expire in five years from the date of execution and paragraph 14 provides that the agreement may be cancelled upon thirty days written notice by dealer to Goodyear or by Goodyear, through its local management, to dealer.

These provisions, the plaintiff claims are inconsistent one with another unless the thirty day cancellation clause is interpreted to be for cause either set forth in paragraph 6 or other good and sufficient cause. No part of the franchise agreement contains any statement or agreement that the agreement could be cancelled without cause. The contract is not exclusive and Goodyear specifically reserved the right to sell in plaintiff's territory through other dealers.

Plaintiff offered testimony concerning negotiations and preliminary discussions prior to the execution of the franchise agreement and the trial court refused to permit any testimony relating to said subject (R. 67-68).

During the period prior to September 16, 1963, the date of cancellation, plaintiff's evidence indicated that local representatives of Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company were stating that Flinco, Inc. was cancelled or was about to be cancelled because it had taken on the Miller Tire line. Evidence also revealed that complaints were made to the Flinco people about their handling the Miller Tire line although there was nothing in the franchise agreement which indicated any restriction on Flinco's handling other lines of Rubber Tire products or accessories competitive to Goodyear.

Flinco's position is that the real and basic reason for cancelling the dealership was the handling of the Miller Tire line and that this action on Goodyear Tire Company's part was a violation of the Anti-Monopoly Pro-

visions of the Laws of the State of Utah contained in Title 50-1, etc., U. C. A., 1953.

It is plaintiff's position that the evidence presented at the trial court presented a question of fact on each of the issues made by the pleadings and as set forth in this Statement of Fact and that the court violated the plaintiff's constitutional rights in refusing to submit the case to the jury on the evidence.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT 1

THE GOODYEAR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT IS AMBIGUOUS IN ITS TERMS.

#### POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT EVIDENCE OF THE NEGOTIATION AND DISCUSSION PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE GOODYEAR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.

#### POINT 3

THE EVIDENCE REVEALED A VIOLATION OF TITLE 50-1-1, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED BY DEFENDANT.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT 1

THE GOODYEAR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT IS AMBIGUOUS IN ITS TERMS.

The Goodyear Franchise Agreement in paragraph 6 provides :

“Upon failure of dealer to make any payment when due, Goodyear may, at its option, cancel this agreement or defer additional shipments until overdo accounts have been paid.”

This is the only reference in the agreement relating to cancellation of the agreement except that paragraph 14 states :

“This agreement may be cancelled upon thirty days written notice by the dealer to Goodyear or by Goodyear, through its local manager, to the dealer.”

At no place in the franchise agreement is there any other grounds set forth for cancellation of the franchise agreement.

The franchise agreement does not provide for an exclusive territory for plaintiff to sell in, nor does it restrict defendant's right to sell in the area which plaintiff operates. The contract does contain in paragraphs 7, 8, 10, and 11, restrictions on the plaintiff's activities. In no place does the defendant retain the right to cancel the agreement except for failure to pay overdue accounts.

The defendant claimed at the time of trial, and the Trial Court, in dismissing plaintiff's Complaint, ruled that defendant had an unrestricted right of cancellation

by giving thirty days written notice to plaintiff and that no cause need be present for such cancellation.

Plaintiff contends that the right to cancel, as contained in paragraph 14, must be read in conjunction with paragraph 6. If so interpreted, the agreement does not give defendant an unrestricted right of cancellation.

In paragraph 13 of the agreement, it provides that the agreement shall expire five years from the day of execution unless previously terminated as hereinafter provided. A fixed term of this kind would seem superfluous if the agreement is terminable at will.

The franchise agreement is a printed form supplied by the defendant. Blanks are filled in to designate the dealer, the types of products that he will handle, and fixing a date on which the agreement is to commence.

This court, on numerous occasions has ruled concerning such documents, that the interpretation of the document must be most strongly against the party furnishing the form and responsible for its contents.

In the case of *Barnard v. Hardy*, 77 Ut. 218, 293 P. 12, this court was concerned with a real estate broker's listing agreement. A part of the property listed had been sold through the efforts of the broker. The owner refused to pay the commission to the real estate broker. The court examined the listing agreement and discovered

that it did not provide for a commission in case a part of the property was sold. After discussing the plaintiff's claim and request that the Court should add, "Should I sell said property or any part thereof." A ruling was made in the following language, "The agreement was prepared by plaintiff, on a printed form furnished by him and therefore must be construed most strongly against him." The court then refused to add the language to make possible commission on a partial sale of the real estate.

In *Mifflin v. Shiki*, 77 Ut. 190, 293 P. 1, a printed listing agreement furnished by a real estate broker and filled in by the broker was before the court. The question was whether or not the broker was entitled to a commission on the trade of the listed real estate or only where there was a sale for cash either on an installment or full payment transaction. This court refused to permit parol evidence to explain the ambiguity created in the printed part which was attempted to be cured by insertion of the word, "trade" on an endorsement to the printed listing agreement. The court applied the rule that where a party furnishes a printed form, the language is interpreted most strongly against the party whose form is used.

A case closest to the facts before the court is *Cowley v. Anderson*, (10 Cir.) 159 F. 2d 1, this case involved a contract between a dealer and supplier of poisonous substances used for rodent control. The contract between the dealer and the supplier provided for exclusive territory, required the dealer to exercise a certain amount of

diligence in exploiting the territory, and provided that the agreement could be terminated for lack of diligence. The contract, as in the present case, was for a five-year period. The Circuit Court held that under such circumstance, the contract was a five-year contract and could not be terminated by the distributor at its will without cause. It pointed out that even though the dealer had a right to discontinue the contract, this does not create a lack of mutuality and grant to the distributor a right of termination without cause.

It would have been a simple matter had the defendant intended to reserve a right of termination, without cause, to have clearly set this out in its printed form. Since it did not, it is respectfully submitted that a proper construction of the contract would adopt the plaintiff's position that the right of cancellation was for cause only and that there was not an unreserved right of cancellation without cause, at the unrestricted will of defendant.

## POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT EVIDENCE OF THE NEGOTIATION AND DISCUSSION PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE GOODYEAR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT.

The negotiations preceding the execution of the Goodyear Franchise Agreement were carried on by one G. E. Ap Roberts, an employee of plaintiff. Plaintiff

propounded a question to Ap Roberts concerning his discussion with one Mr. Ferguson relating to the relationship between Flinco and Goodyear Tire and Rubber Company. The court refused to permit the answer of Ap Roberts (R. 67-68). Thereupon, counsel for plaintiff made an offer of proof that the witness, Ap Roberts would state that in all of the discussion with Ferguson, the contract was stated to be for a five-year term and was so intended by Ap Roberts and Flinco, Inc., that prior to the execution of the agreement it was understood that it was for a five-year term (R. 68-69). The court refused to permit this testimony and plaintiff claims this prejudiced its rights.

The rules relating to parol evidence in aid of interpretation of ambiguous agreements has been discussed on many occasions by this court. It is submitted that there is a clear rule that the evidence is admissible to aid in arriving at a proper and clear interpretation of a contract and to ascertain the intentions of the parties.

*Penn Star Mining Company v. Lyman, et al.*, 64 Ut. 343, 231 P. 107, involved an appeal from a refusal by the trial court to permit parol evidence relating to certain documents and contracts on which the plaintiff sought recovery of damages. The defendant claimed the agreement and contract was obscure, uncertain, and ambiguous. The plaintiff claimed that it was perfectly clear and wholly free from ambiguity. The Trial Court refused to permit evidence from the defendant to show what the

language of the agreement actually meant. This Court reversed the Trial Court and stated that there was an extensive and well established rule that in cases where the language of a written instrument is obscure, uncertain, or ambiguous so that the intentions of the party were left in doubt by an inspection of the instrument alone, extrinsic evidence within recognized limits is always admissible to aid the court in arriving at the true intentions of the parties. This court in setting forth the principle and general rule, quoted at length the case of *Salt Lake City v. Smith*, 104 F. 457, 43 C.C.A. 642. In the recent case of *Continental Bank and Trust Company v. Stewart*, 4 Ut. 2d, 228, 291 P. 2d 890, cited again the *Salt Lake City v. Smith* case and quoted the rule for which that case stands in the following language:

“It is true that the express terms of an agreement may not be abrogated, nullified or modified by parol testimony; but where, because of vagueness or uncertainty in the language used, the intent of the parties is in question, the court may consider the situation of the parties, the facts and circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the purpose of its execution, and the respective claims thereunder, to ascertain what the parties intended.”

The Penn Star case also stands for the proposition that where a party to a contract uses ambiguous language, the language will be interpreted most strongly against the party using it. It cites with approval the proposition that when there is doubt as to meaning of a

contract, a party responsible for the language will be held to that meaning which he knew the other party supposed the words to mean.

Plaintiff attempted through the witness Ap Roberts, to show the court and jury what it was that the plaintiff believed the franchise agreement meant prior to its execution, and at the time of its execution, how the plaintiff interpreted the language of the printed form furnished to it by defendant. In refusing to permit plaintiff to make such showing, it is respectfully submitted the court erred to the prejudice of the plaintiff.

Many Utah cases have applied the rule that extrinsic evidence may be admitted to show the meaning the parties gave to the agreement and the circumstances surrounding their negotiations so that an accurate ascertainment of the parties' intentions could be achieved.

In *Boley v. Butterfield*, 57 Ut. 262, 194 P. 128, this court permitted extrinsic evidence to show that a lease of grazing permits was to be non-exclusive rather than exclusive. It permitted the defendant to show that the plaintiff had been advised that other persons were sharing in the grazing area and that his permit was therefore not to be exclusive.

In *Read v. Forced Underfiring Corporation*, 82 Ut. 529, 26 P. 2d, 325, this court permitted extrinsic evidence to show what was meant by "net profits." The evidence

revealed that at the time of the agreement, the directors were not being paid and this expense was not taken into consideration by the parties in arriving at the company's "net profits."

In *Vincent v. Federal Land Bank*, 109 Ut. 191, 167 P. 2d, 279, this court permitted evidence to show that an agreement that the property line would be at the edge of a body of water was intended to mean the shore of the body of water at the time of the agreement and not the receded shore line which was claimed by the plaintiff at the time of the trial.

In *Udy v. Jensen*, 63 Ut. 94, 222 P. 597, this court approved evidence that a contract involving the sale of stock was a mere option and the buyer was not bound to purchase, permitting evidence of statements made by the buyer at a directors' meeting where he advised the seller that he did not intend to be bound or jeopardize any of his property but only purchase if he could do so. Parol evidence was allowed to show the buyer did not intend more than an option.

In *Continental Bank and Trust Company v. Stewart*, 4 Ut. 2d 228, 291 P. 2d 890, this court in a scholarly opinion permitted witnesses to testify to the meanings of obligations and debts and to show that the debts to be assumed by the buyer as a part of the purchase price of real estate, were secured debts.

In *Maw v. Noble*, 10 Ut. 2d 440, 354 P. 2d 121, the court permitted extrinsic evidence to show the meaning of an attorneys fee arrangement. It stated again the rule that party drawing an agreement which contains an uncertainty or ambiguity, should have the contract most strongly construed against him. The primary and more fundamental rule is that the contract must be looked at realistically in the light of circumstances under which it was entered into and if the intent of the parties can be ascertained with a reasonable certainty, it must be given effect.

In the case of *Cornwall v. Willow Creek Country Club*, 13 Ut. 2d 160, 369 P. 2d 928, the court set forth as the cardinal and primary rule of interpretation which plaintiff seeks to have applied in the present litigation and stated:

“In interpreting a contract, the primary rule is to determine what the parties intended by what they said. The court may not add, ignore or discard words in the process, but attempts to render certain the meaning of the provision in dispute by an objective and reasonable construction of the whole contract.”

Applying the rules set down in the *Cornwall* case, it would appear that only by ignoring the content of paragraph 6 of the franchise agreement, could the court rule that the franchise agreement could be cancelled at the will of either party. It seems clear that if it is cancell-

able at the will of either party, no reasons such as is set forth in paragraph 6 would be necessary for cancellation.

It is plaintiff's position that the court in interpreting the franchise agreement, should have received evidence concerning the parties intentions, circumstances, and plans at the time the franchise agreement was entered into, to ascertain the true intent. This court has determined, on numerous occasions, that under such circumstances, parol evidence may be received to resolve disputes concerning the meaning of ambiguous portions of the contract.

In *Burt v. Stringfellow*, 45 Ut. 207, 143 P. 234, this court in an opinion written by Justice Frick examined the occasions when parol evidence may be received and set forth that it was proper to, (a) define the nature and quality of the subject matter, (b) situation and relation of the parties, (c) all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract.

In a later case, *Mathis v. Madsen*, 1 Ut. 2d 46, 261 P. 2d 952, the court has enlarged on the rule and set forth the order in which the intent of the parties to a contract that is ambiguous, should be ascertained. *First*, the language of the contract should be examined, *second*, any contemporary writings may be examined, and *third*, if the meaning of the agreement is still uncertain, then parol evidence of the parties' intentions and plans may be received.

Under all of the cases cited, the refusal by the trial court to permit the witnesses Ap Roberts and Tate to testify concerning the negotiations and discussions of the Goodyear Franchise Agreement, was error.

### POINT 3

THE EVIDENCE REVEALED A VIOLATION OF TITLE 50-1-1, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED BY DEFENDANT.

Plaintiff's evidence revealed that agents and representatives of defendant discussed with plaintiff's agents and representatives the fact that the plaintiff had taken on the distribution of an additional brand of tires since entering into the franchise agreement with Goodyear.

In one conversation, the agent, R. W. Morrow, stated to Tate, President of Flinco, Inc. that he was in Salt Lake for the purpose of terminating Flinco, Inc. since they took on the Miller Tire line (R. 152). Similar statements were made on other occasions to other representatives of Flinco, Inc. (R. 90).

This evidence is important on two separate facets of plaintiff's case; mainly on its claim for damages for monopolistic practices and second, it indicates that the defendant did not believe they could terminate the contract without good and sufficient cause.

The testimony of the plaintiff's witnesses to the effect that defendant in its distribution system required

its dealers to handle only Goodyear Tire and Rubber products and that the termination of Flinco, Inc. was related to its acceptance of an additional line of rubber products for distribution, is sufficient support for plaintiff's claim of a violation of Section 50-1-2 of Utah Code Annotated, 1953. From such testimony, the jury could find that the defendant was a party to an agreement to fix or limit the amount or quality of rubber products which could be sold in the Flinco territory.

If the jury believed Flinco's evidence, it could find a breach of the anti-monopoly laws of the State of Utah. Flinco would be entitled to triple damages for any damage resulting from this agreement if the termination of its franchise was an act in furtherance of the agreement. It is plaintiff's position that such an act would amount to a wrongful termination.

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