1965

Flinco, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Comp Any, A Foreign Corporation : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED A VERDICT FOR DEFENDANT ON THE CLAIM FOR ALLEGED BREACH OF CONTRACT.

A. The Contract's Termination Provisions Are Unambiguous. They Do Not Require Goodyear to Justify its Decision to Terminate Flinco's Dealership by a Showing of "Good Cause."

Defendant's motion in the trial court for a directed verdict, and its argument here for an affirmance of the trial court's judgment, rest principally upon para-

graphs thirteen and fourteen of the written agreement (Ex. 1), which in their entirety provide:

This agreement shall become effective when signed by an authorized District Manager of Goodyear and shall expire five (5) years from date of execution *unless otherwise previously terminated as hereinafter provided*. It cancels and supersedes any other Franchise Agreement and any other sales agreement now in effect between the parties covering the sale by Goodyear to the Dealer of any product included hereunder (Emphasis supplied).

This agreement may be cancelled upon thirty (30) days' written notice by the Dealer to Goodyear, or by Goodyear through its local manager to the Dealer. At the expiration of said thirty (30) days, Goodyear shall have the right to cancel all unfilled orders, and during such time may refuse any orders in excess of the average thirty-day requirements of the Dealer based on orders actually given hereunder during the term hereof. (Emphasis supplied).

We submit that this language entitled Goodyear to cancel the franchise for whatever reasons it deemed sufficient, so long as it gave plaintiff thirty days' written notice.⁴ The language is plain and unmistakable: Goodyear was *not* required to justify its decision by producing proof of "good cause" in court.

Almost universally, courts from other jurisdictions have refused to engraft a requirement of "good cause"

⁴ The notice provisions were complied with (Ex. 2), and plaintiff continued to purchase Goodyear products until mid-October. (R. 217).

upon absolute rights of termination so clearly stated. Annot. 32 A.L.R. 209, 215 (1924); cf. 52 A.L.R. 546, 547 (1928), 89 A.L.R. 252, 254 (1934). Thus, in *Bushwick-Decatur Motors, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 116 F.2d 675 (2nd Cir. 1940), where the provisions under which Ford had cancelled a dealer's franchise provided that "this agreement may be terminated at any time at the will of either party by written notice to the other party . . .," the court regarded as irrelevant plaintiff's contention that the termination was "malicious, in bad faith, and contrary to the custom of the trade and therefore wrongful" and held (at p. 677):

With a power of termination at will here so unmistakably expressed, we certainly cannot assert that a limitation of good faith was anything the parties had in mind. Such a limitation can be read into the agreement only as an overriding requirement of public policy. This seems an extreme step for judges to take. The onerous nature of the contract for the successful dealer and the hardship which cancellation may bring him have caused some writers to advocate it, however; and an occasional case has seized upon elements of overreaching to come to such a result on particular facts. . . . But, generally speaking, the situation arises from the strong bargaining position which economic factors give the great automobile manufacturing companies: the dealers are not misled or imposed upon, but accept as nonetheless advantageous an agreement in form bilateral, in fact one-sided. To attempt to redress this balance by judicial action without legislative authority appears to us a

doubtful policy. We have not proper facilities to weigh economic factors, nor have we before us a showing of the supposed needs which may lead the manufacturers to require these seemingly harsh bargains

Accord: *Buggs v. Ford Motor Co.*, 113 F. 2d 618 (7th Cir. 1940), *cert. denied*, 311 U.S. 688 (1940); *Ford Motor Co. v. Kirkmyer Motor Co.*, 65 F.2d 1001 (4th Cir. 1933); *Martin v. Ford Motor Co.*, 93 F. Supp. 920 (E.D. Mich. 1950).

Again, in *Motor Car Supply Co. v. General Household Utilities Co.*, 80 F.2d 167 (4th Cir. 1935), the court refused to grant recovery to a dealer who had been canceled under a clause which read: "It is agreed that either party may terminate this agreement by giving thirty (30) days notice by registered mail to the other." The court stated at pp. 170-171:

The law is well settled that, where a contract for the future delivery of personal property confers upon either party an arbitrary right of cancellation prior to delivery, it is lacking in mutuality and will be held binding upon the parties only to the extent that it has been performed. . . . And, with respect to distributors' contracts, like that here under consideration, it is equally well settled that such a contract, which does not bind the manufacturer to sell and deliver, and which is terminable at will, imposes no liability upon him if he terminates it or refuses to make deliveries to the dealer. . . . [T]he contract merely "furnished a basis for future dealings to be observed no longer than was mutually satis-

factory. There was no hard and fast commitment of either party if he chose to break away."

And in *Brooks v. Sinclair Refining Co.*, 139 F.2d 746 (10th Cir. 1944), the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit refused to qualify a manufacturer's right to terminate a sales agency under the language, "either party may terminate this agreement at any time with or without cause." The court held at p. 747:

The contract created an agency. Under it Sinclair was not bound to deliver any products to Brooks, the agent, for sale and was at liberty to reject, with or without cause, any orders taken by Brooks and either party could terminate the contract at any time with or without cause. The contract, in so far as it was executory, was wholly illusory. We conclude that termination of the contract imposed no liability upon Sinclair.

For additional authority to the same effect, see: *American Machine & Metals, Inc. v. De Bothezat Impeller Co., Inc.*, 180 F.2d 342 (2d. Cir. 1950), cert. denied, 339 U.S. 979 (1950); *A. S. Rampell, Inc. v. Hyster Co.*, 144 N.E. 2d 371 (N.Y. 1957); *Studebaker Corp. of America v. Wilson*, 247 Fed. 403 (3rd Cir. 1918); *Mohawk Agency, Inc. v. American Casualty Co.*, 227 F. Supp. 745 (N.D.N.Y. 1964); *Kane v. Chrysler Corp.*, 80 F. Supp. 360 (D.Del. 1948); *McClintock v. Truxell Sales & Service, Inc.*, 297 N.W. 493 (Mich. 1941).

The parties' agreement, we submit, does not limit their right to terminate by the standard of "good cause"

or by any other standard; and what the agreement so clearly states in this regard the cases affirm.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Excluded Evidence of Preliminary Negotiations.

The excluded evidence that prior to June 21, 1962 the parties had understood that the contract would continue for five years was offered for the purpose of resolving a presumed "conflict" between paragraphs thirteen and fourteen of the contract (R. 68-69). As argued by appellant, those paragraphs are "contradictory and inconsistent" because one "provides that the agreement shall expire in five (5) years" and the other "provides that the agreement may be cancelled upon thirty days' written notice." (Br. p. 3). This transparent argument simply writes out of the contract the connecting bridge between the two provisos: "This agreement . . . shall expire five (5) years from date of execution *unless otherwise previously terminated as hereinafter provided.*"⁵ The bridge replaced, the "conflict" vanishes. If neither party affirmatively *terminates* the relationship earlier, the contract will automatically *expire*—fall of its own weight—in five years.

At most, the rejected testimony could only have resurrected a prior oral agreement, superseded by the terms of the writing. For not only is the written document free of ambiguity, it also recites (in paragraphs twelve and thirteen) that "the entire agreement regard-

⁵ Plaintiff's brief virtually ignores this provision. Nowhere in its brief does plaintiff set forth the entire contractual provisions with respect to termination.

ing the subject matter is set forth herein” and that the writing “cancels and supersedes” all earlier understandings. Even plaintiff’s own cited cases acknowledge that “the court may not add, ignore, or discard words” in arriving at the parties’ intent, *Cornwall v. Willow Creek Country Club*, 13 Utah 2d 160, 369 P.2d 928 (1962), and limit the interpretive role of parol evidence to resolving ambiguities. *Continental Bank and Trust Company v. Stewart*, 4 Utah 2d 228, 291 P.2d 890 (1955); *Mathis v. Madsen*, 1 Utah 2d 46, 261 P.2d 952 (1953). All this is hornbook law.

Where one has contracted in writing to pay money, or to complete a building, or to deliver goods or to convey land, by a specified date, that contract supersedes and nullifies all antecedent understandings or agreements that this performance is to be rendered by a different date. Parol testimony to prove such an antecedent agreement would be utterly irrelevant and immaterial, as long as it is not part of an attack upon the validity of the subsequently made written contract. Again, if one contracts in writing (or orally) to buy and pay for property on the express condition that no war shall break out between this country and another before the day set for performance, neither oral nor written testimony will be relevant or material that the parties had a previous understanding or agreement to buy and pay for the property even if a war should break out. 3 CORBIN ON CONTRACTS § 573, p. 369 (2d ed. 1960).

On these well-settled principles, the proffered testimony was of no probative value whatever, and was properly excluded.

C. Paragraph Six of the Agreement Does Not Contradict Paragraph Fourteen.

Plaintiff argues in its brief that a seeming conflict between paragraphs six and fourteen of the franchise agreement creates an ambiguity which requires the contract to be construed “most strongly against the party furnishing the form”—by which plaintiff seems to mean that neither Goodyear *nor the dealer* may cancel under paragraph fourteen unless the dealer is in default, as stated in paragraph six! Paragraph six states:

Upon failure of the Dealer to make any payments when due, Goodyear may, at its option, cancel this agreement or defer additional shipments until overdue accounts have been paid. Goodyear may decline to make deliveries except for cash whenever it is not satisfied with Dealer's financial responsibility.

The function of paragraph six seems quite clear from its language. If the dealer fails to make payments when due, Goodyear may exercise any one of three additional remedies: it may “defer additional shipments until overdue accounts have been paid;” it may “decline to make deliveries except for cash;” or it may “cancel this agreement.” If it chooses the last alternative, it is not bound, as it would be under paragraph fourteen, to continue to fill orders for thirty days after cancellation, but it may decline to make any such deliveries “except for cash.” Paragraph six is designed simply to make available to Goodyear alternative courses of action in a situation where the thirty-day notice requirement of paragraph fourteen would prove onerous.

It does not qualify, across-the-board, the rights created by paragraphs thirteen and fourteen, as the fact that its remedies are available to Goodyear only and not to the dealer, attests.

For the reasons given, plaintiff's attempt to discard the plain words of the parties' contract is void of merit. The trial court properly directed a verdict for defendant on the breach of contract issue.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED A VERDICT FOR DEFENDANT ON THE CLAIM OF VIOLATION OF SECTION 50-1-2 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1953).

Plaintiff claims that even if the cancellation did not breach the parties' contract, it nevertheless did violate § 50-1-2 UTAH CODE ANN. (1953) because it was motivated by the fact that plaintiff had taken on the competing Miller line.

The statute in question provides:

Any person or association of persons who shall create, enter into, or become a member of or a party to, any pool, trust, agreement, combination, confederation or understanding with any other person or persons to regulate or fix the price of any article of merchandise or commodity; or who shall enter into, or become a member of or a party to, any pool, trust, agreement, contract, combination or confederation to fix or

limit the amount or quantity of any article, commodity or merchandise to be manufactured, mined, produced or sold in this state shall be deemed and adjudged guilty of a conspiracy to defraud, and shall be subject to punishment as hereinafter provided.

It is clear that in order to establish a violation of the statute, plaintiff must show both a “pool, trust, agreement, combination, confederation or understanding with any other person or persons,” and a purpose “to fix or limit the amount or quantity” of tires sold in the state of Utah. It is submitted that plaintiff’s evidence fails to show either.

A. The Record Contains No Evidence of Conspiracy.

On the threshold requirement of a “*pool, trust, agreement, contract, combination or confederation,*” the sum total of plaintiff’s evidence, considered in the light most favorable to plaintiff, tended to establish *only a unilateral* policy by Goodyear “not . . . to allow any distributor to handle another line of tires.” (R. 90, 152). Plaintiff produced no evidence that any distributor, anywhere, had *agreed* with Goodyear so to confine its activities, or that any distributor was so much as aware of this supposed policy at a time when it dealt exclusively in defendant’s products. Indeed, one may search the record in vain for the name of a single Goodyear dealer who *did* deal exclusively in defendant’s products.

None of plaintiff’s cited cases will support the proposition that a *unilateral* policy of refusing to sell

to dealers who handle competing lines violates the conspiracy provisions of any antitrust law. Other cases hold flatly that such a policy is *not* unlawful. *Theatre Enterprises, Inc. v. Paramount Film Distributing Corp.*, 346 U.S. 537, 540-541 (1954) (Sherman Act); *Keifer-Stewart Co. v. Seagram & Sons, Inc.*, 340 U.S. 211 (1951) (Sherman Act); *Paramount Film Distributing Corp. v. Village Theater, Inc.*, 228 F.2d 721 (10th Cir. 1955) (Sherman Act); *Brosius v. Pepsi-Cola Co.*, 155 F.2d 99, 102 (3rd Cir. 1946) (Sherman Act); *Arzee Supply Corp. of Conn. v. Ruberoid Co.*, 222 F. Supp. 237 (D. Conn. 1963) (Sherman Act); *Dart Drug Corp v. Parke, Davis & Co.*, 221 F. Supp. 948 (D.C.D.C. 1963) (Sherman Act); *Nelson Radio & Supply Co., Inc. v. Motorola, Inc.*, 200 F.2d 911 (5th Cir. 1952), *cert. denied*, 345 U.S. 925 (1953) (Sherman and Clayton Acts); *Leo J. Meyberg Co. v. Eureka Williams Corp.*, 215 F.2d 100 (9th Cir. 1954), *cert. denied*, 348 U.S. 875 (1954) (Clayton Act); *Associated Beverages Co. v. P. Ballantine & Sons*, 287 F.2d 261 (5th Cir. 1961) (Clayton Act); *A.B.C. Distributing Co. v. Distillers Distributing Corp.*, 316 P.2d 71 (Calif. 1957) (Calif. antitrust law).

As early stated by the Supreme Court in *FTC v. Raymond Bros.-Clark Co.*, 263 U.S. 565, 573 (1924) :

It is the right, "long recognized," of a trader engaged in an entirely private business, "freely to exercise his own independent discretion as to the parties with whom he will deal." *United States v. Colgate & Co.*, 250 U.S. 300, 307, 63

L. ed. 992, 996, 7 A.L.R. 443, 39 Sup. Ct. Rep. 465. See also *United States v. Trans-Missouri Freight Assn.*, 166 U.S. 290, 320, 41 L. ed 1007, 1020, 17 Sup. Ct. Rep. 540; *Dueber Watch-Case Mfg. Co. v. E. Howard Watch & Clock Co.*, 14 C.C.A. 14, 35 U.S. App. 16, 66 Fed. 637, 645; *Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Co. v. Cream of Wheat Co.*, 141 C.C.A. 594, 227 Fed. 46, 48; *Wholesale Grocers' Assn. v. Federal Trade Commission (C.C.A.)* 277 Fed. 657, 664; *Mennen Co. v. Federal Trade Commission (C.C.A.)* 30 A.L.R. 1120, 288 Fed. 774, 780; *Alfred W. Booth & Co. v. Burgess*, 72 N.J. Eq. 181, 190, 65 Atl. 226; and 2 Cooley, *Torts*, 3d ed. 587. Thus, a retail dealer "has the unquestioned right to stop dealing with a wholesaler for reasons satisfactory to himself." *Eastern States Retail Lumber Dealers' Assn. v. United States*, 234 U.S. 600, 614, 58 L. ed. 1490, 1500, L.R.A. 1915A, 788, 34 Sup. Ct. Rep. 951; *United States v. Colgate & Co.* supra, p. 307. He may lawfully make a fixed rule of conduct not to buy from a producer or manufacturer who sells to consumers in competition with himself. *Grenada Lumber Co. v. Mississippi*, 217 U.S. 433, 440, 54 L. ed. 826, 830, 30 Sup. Ct. Rep. 535. Or he may stop dealing with a wholesaler who he thinks is acting unfairly in trying to undermine his trade. *Eastern States Retail Lumber Dealers' Assn. v. United States*, supra, p. 614; *United States v. Colgate & Co.* supra, p. 307. Likewise a wholesale dealer has the right to stop dealing with a manufacturer "for reasons sufficient to himself." And he may do so because he thinks such manufacturer is undermining his trade by selling either to a competing wholesaler or to a retailer competing with

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